
National Park Authority  - 26 June 2020 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held via LIFESIZE ON 
FRIDAY, 26TH JUNE, 2020 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

Link for Members:  https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 

Public Document Pack

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcall.lifesizecloud.com%2F2288154&data=02%7C01%7Candrea.mansfield%40powys.gov.uk%7C37c7db48dfb84634ff6608d8142681fd%7Cc01d9ee10eb0475499ae03ae8a732b50%7C0%7C0%7C637281502929239432&sdata=kfNP1nc8xYs223KpXT6E5HqCN5K%2BoenUOy3cgB1UAYE%3D&reserved=0
http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 26 June 2020 2

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 12)

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 CORPORATE PLAN 2020/21 (Pages 13 - 50)

8 AMENDMENT TO TERMS OF REFERENCE OF AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (Pages 51 - 54)

9 AMENDMENTS TO APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE (Pages 55 - 58)

10 ESTABLISHMENT OF AN ACCOMMODATION WORKING 
GROUP (Pages 59 - 62)

11 WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS COMPLIANCE REPORT (Pages 
63 - 70)

12 MEMBER REPORTS 

13 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 



National Park Authority  - 26 June 2020 3

14 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 13 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 17 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.
 

15 UPDATE JUNE 2020 ON FOEL DEG BOUNDARY MANAGEMENT 
(Pages 71 - 74)

16 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 26 May 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 26TH MAY, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr James Marsden, Mr Julian Stedman, Mr Christopher Coppock, Mrs Sue Holden, Ms Liz Davis 
and Canon Aled Edwards

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesMr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager

Apologies
Cllr J Hill

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 26 May 2020

Elaine Standen (Finance Manager)

23/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed all to the first virtual meeting of the Authority. He advised that 
while not required to hold meetings in public under the COVID-19 Regulations the 
Authority was committed to continuing to broadcast and archive its meetings, subject to 
technology.
 
He also welcomed Liz Davis and Aled Edwards to their first meeting as Welsh 
Government appointed members of the Authority, and wished Cllr John Hill a speedy 
recovery.  He advised that Powys County Council had appointed Cllr James Evans to 
replace Cllr Iain McIntosh.
 

24/20 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

25/20 Minutes 

One amendment was highlighted:  a reference to the meeting held on 24 January 2020 
which should be entitled National Park Authority rather than Extraordinary General 
Meeting.
 
A member asked the Chief Executive to provide feedback on learning points from his 
attendance at the Leadership Winter School.
 

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the National Park 
Authority, as amended, held on 11 February 2020 be 
approved and the Chair authorised to sign them as a 
true record.

 

26/20 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak. The Monitoring Officer advised that the Authority 
would be changing its standing orders to allow the public to address the meeting via 
various methods including the use of video, in order to facilitate the process in virtual 
meetings.
 

27/20 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair thanked those members who had stood down or completed their terms of 
office on 31 March 2020 when the Authority reduced from 24 to 18 members.  He 
regretted that due to lockdown they had not had the opportunity to thank members in 
person but would arrange an occasion to do this in future.
 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 26 May 2020

He reported that he had attended weekly meetings of the Crisis Management and 
Emergency Planning meetings with officers. He had done interviews with Sky and Radio 
Wales on the current closures.  He thanked officers and members for the way in which 
they had carried out the additional work needed to deal with the COVID-19 regulations.
 
The Chair highlighted the launch by the Education Team this week of the Young 
Ambassadors Award which had already had a high level of response.  He thanked the 
Democratic Services Officer for her work in supporting the members’ use of new 
technology and for livestreaming this meeting.
 

28/20 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive had circulated his announcements which provided an update on his 
work and the challenges facing the Authority as a result of COVID-19.
 
Members asked questions relating to the Brecon Beacons Park Society’s concerns about 
Dark Skies status continuing, the Change Programme and expressed concern about the 
losses incurred by the Authority which would not be supported by Welsh Government.  
The Chief Executive confirmed that due to capacity the Authority would be looking to 
work with partners on Dark Skies.  He advised that he would be sharing further 
information on the Change Programme, and acknowledged the need for members to have 
information on ongoing work during the current situation where meetings were not 
taking place face to face.  A member highlighted the opportunities which could arise and 
cited the need for an engagement plan and the Chief Executive agreed to work with the 
member before the next Policy Forum.
 
A member reported some comments from local residents about mixed messages from 
the Authority on path closures and the Chief Executive offered to take this up with him 
outside the meeting.
 

29/20 Virtual Meetings and Urgent Decisions 

The Monitoring Officer presented proposals to add transparency to decision making and 
to ensure clear delegation to the Chief Executive in consultation with the senior members 
and statutory officers in cases of emergency or urgency.  Additions to the standing orders 
were recommended to take account of the COVID-19 regulations in respect of virtual 
meetings.
 
Members sought clarification on points relating to the proposals.  The Monitoring Officer 
advised that if a member left a meeting for technological or other reasons then then 
would not be able to vote, although the Chair could take a view as to whether to wait for 
reconnection or defer the item to the end of the agenda.
 
Members welcomed the work that had gone into the proposals as this would facilitate a 
different way of working in future although meetings should be time limited in view of the 
additional levels of concentration needed to participate virtually.  In response to a 
question the Monitoring Officer confirmed that delegated decisions would be reported 
back to the relevant committee for which the decision had been taken, but that this could 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 26 May 2020

be amended to the full Authority.  The Chief Executive confirmed that delegated decisions 
would still be subject to equality and Welsh Language compliance.
 
There was some discussion about the Deputy Chair post which was vacant at present but 
should play a role in delegated decisions.
 
A member suggested that this needed to be considered in the context of emergency 
planning and capturing any lessons learned.  The Chief Executive would send the member 
the Authority’s Crisis Management Policy.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a) To adopt the additional Standing Order to facilitate 

decisions using remote meetings of the Authority, 
subcommittees, forums and working groups.

 
b) To amend the Urgency Delegation in the Scheme of 

Delegation
 

30/20 Interim Member Appointments 

Members considered proposals to fill a number of appointments pending the rescheduling 
of the Annual General Meeting, and welcomed the Chair’s intention to rearrange this.
 
In response to a suggestion that gaps should be replaced by members similarly appointed 
(ie either local authority or Welsh Government appointed) the Democratic Services 
Manager advised that committees were subject to legislation but that flexibility could be 
applied to working groups, although it was good practice to maintain a balance of 
members.  The member highlighted the need for the right skills for each committee or 
working group.
 
Cllr M Jones left the meeting during this item and did not participate in the decisions.
 

RESOLVED:
 

a)     To note the changes in membership of the Authority 
from 1 April 2020 as given in Table 1 of the report;

 
b)     To note the effect on committee membership as at 1 

April 2020 outlined in Enclosure 1;
 

c)     To make the following interim appointments to 
committees, working groups and individual roles as 
follows:

 
That all members be appointed to the Planning, 
Access and Rights of Way Committee;
 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 26 May 2020

Deputy Chair:  To defer election to this role until the 
AGM;
 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee:  Cllr E Roderick, Cllr 
M Colbran, Cllr S Evans and Mr C Coppock;
 
Standards:  Ms S Holden;
 
Sustainable Development Fund Committee:  L Davis, 
Cllr E Roderick, Cllr A Webb;
 
Affordable Housing Working Group:  Cllr S 
McNicholas, Cllr A Webb;
 
Policy Working Group:  L Davis, Mr C Coppock, Cllr E 
Roderick, Cllr G Ratcliffe;
 
Member Champion for Sustainable Economic 
Development:  Cllr G Thomas;
 
Member Champion for Equality and Diversity:  Rev A 
Edwards.
 
 

 
d)   To defer the Authority’s AGM until a time to be 

agreed by the Chair of the Authority but no later than 
1 August 2020.

 
 

31/20 Corporate Plan 2020/21 

The Systems and Performance Manager presented the draft Corporate Plan and advised 
of further amendments needed, as well as some appendices.  The Chief Executive 
highlighted the uncertainty of deliverability with work on the ground on hold pending 
Welsh Government advice.  He described the Corporate Plan as a transition plan as the 
Authority worked towards coming out of the Local Government Measure and ahead of 
the National Park Management Plan.  Following discussions with members over the 
weekend he had agreed the need to do more work on this and proposed bringing it to 
the Policy Forum on 19 June and then the Authority for approval on 26 June.  
 
Members were appreciative of the work that had gone into developing the plan during the 
current crisis.
 
Members made a number of detailed comments on the draft plan which officers would 
consider before it was brought to the Policy Forum.  The officer thanked them for the 
constructive feedback and the positive comments on the structure.  He shared their 
concern about the lack of ambition in the plan but urged caution about blurring the lines 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 26 May 2020

between the Corporate Plan and National Park Management Plan, the latter being the 
place to demonstrate ambition and the former the plan for implementation.
 
Cllrs M Colbran and S Evans left the meeting at this point.
 
It was suggested that the Policy Working Group might be used as sounding board before 
the Policy Forum but officers asked for the flexibility to engage members as necessary 
between now and 19 June.  
 

RESOLVED:  That the draft Corporate Plan be amended 
in line with members’ comments and brought to Policy 
Forum on 19 June 2020 and the Authority for approval on 
26 June 2020.

 

32/20 Annual Governance Statement 2019-20 

Members considered the draft Annual Governance Statement for 2019-20 which had been 
reviewed in detail by the Governance and Member Development Working Group.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Annual Governance 
Statement for 2019-20 for publication with the Annual 
Statement of Accounts.

 

33/20 Recruitment Policy 

In line with a recommendation from Internal Audit the Human Resources Officer 
presented a draft Recruitment Policy.  She highlighted the use of a category system to 
assess Welsh language proficiency.  There was also the option for video interviews.
 
A member suggested that more weight be given to options for flexible working and home 
working, which would also reduce the carbon footprint, as would relocation nearer the 
place of work.  The officer agreed that these were working options.  In response to a 
question she explained the job evaluation process.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Recruitment Policy.
 

34/20 Travel and Subsistence Policy 

Members considered updates to the Travel and Subsistence Policy, which had been 
reviewed in line with good practice from other organisations.  A member asked that 
carbon friendly methods of transport be looked at as the current policy assumed car 
travel.  The officer advised that all staff were required to use fleet vehicles which were 
almost entirely electric, and that increasing use of video meetings would have a positive 
effect on the Authority’s carbon footprint.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Travel and Subsistence 
Policy. 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 26 May 2020

 

35/20 BBNPA Position Statement on Peatland River and Wetland Restoration 

Members considered a draft position statement presented by the Natural Resources 
Manager and addressed a number of questions from members on why peat had eroded 
and how it could be restored.
 
The Biodiversity Champion suggested that a significant capital spend should be applied to 
this work using a local estate, which would make a strategic difference.  The officer 
advised that the Authority had submitted a bid to Natural Resources Wales for £915,000 
but had received £95,000, but said that the work could be carried out despite the shorter 
season due to COVID-19 restrictions, as officers always managed to deliver on capital 
grants.  A number of project proposals were being worked up as the Authority went into 
lockdown but these had yet to be tested with partner organisations.  A dedicated project 
officer would be an advantage to progress this work.
 
Asked whether the capital funding discussed at Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 24 
January 2020 could be allocated against actions in all three approved Position Statement 
the Chief Executive responded that these actions needed to be reflected in the Corporate 
Plan with an indication of resources.
 

RESOLVED:  
 
a)     To adopt the Position Statement on Peatland River 

and Wetland Restoration;
 
b)  To recognise the policy and resource implications of 

objectives and actions driven by the position 
statement.

 

36/20 Member Reports 

There were no reports from members.
 

37/20 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.
 

38/20 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.
 

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 8 26 May 2020

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 12



Corporate Plan 2020/21

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 26 June 2020

Report Author P Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details Paul.Funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek approval of the corporate plan

Single Integrated 
Assessment

n/a

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 – Corporate Plan 2020/21 draft

Public Interest Test n/a

Recommendation(s) a) that Members approve the Corporate Plan for 
2020/21

1.1 Introduction or Background

The draft plan at enclosure 1 has been reviewed and revised following input from Members at 
the NPA on 26 May, Policy Forum on 19 June and via correspondence between these dates.

The Corporate Plan sets out the Authority’s priorities and activities for the year ahead; at the 
time of writing, the majority of our work is linked to Welsh Government (WG) aspirations for 
managing the COVID-19 pandemic and ensuing public health and economic challenges. The Plan 
seeks to show how the Authority will plan for the development and delivery of the longer-term 
aspirations of the National Park Management Plan.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Paul.Funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.2 Constraints

The plan is late, delayed by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the requirements for
the Authority’s management team to move into crisis management mode. It is the result of a
collective effort to make sense of the current circumstances and an attempt to predict the
potential consequences and demands on the National Park and the Park Authority for the
remainder of this year.

Welsh Government officials and Audit Wales have been appraised of the situation and are
supportive of the focus on COVID-19 recovery planning and essential service delivery.
It is acknowledged that with the change programme on hold the aspirations for a significant shift
in the Authority’s strategic focus and ways of working have not been fully met in this plan.
Similarly, the articulation of all of the statutory requirements the Authority must meet has not
been compiled as a supporting document due to time constraints imposed by servicing the
Authority’s emergency response and remote working measures.

1.3 Implications

The remainder of the year remains subject to entirely unprecedented uncertainty, reflecting 
arguably the most uncertain times since the designation of the Park in 1957. Consequently, the 
only predictable thing is that the deliverables set out in the plan will be subject to ongoing 
review.

1.4 Risk

If the recommendation is not approved the Authority will be non-compliant with the
requirement under the Local Government Measure to have a published Corporate Plan.

1.5 Conclusion

The Corporate Plan is key document for the Authority. This iteration represents a transition
between previous plans linked to the Local Government Measure and a Corporate Plan more
closely aligned to the National Park Management Plan which expresses longer term objectives
alongside annual actions. While it is acknowledged that the Corporate Plan for 2020/21 could 
be further improved, the conclusion of the debate at Policy Forum on June 19th was that it 
should be accepted with some minor amendments and that it should form the basis of work to 
frame a more ambitious Corporate Plan for 2021/22 oriented around the philosophy of 
“Building the Park Back Better” post Covid-19 and in response to climate change and 
biodiversity loss.

Members are therefore asked to approve the revised draft (enclosure 1)

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) that Members approve the Corporate Plan for 2020/21

Page 14



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 1 of 36

Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority
Corporate Plan 
2020/21(COVID-19)
Version: Draft 0.384

Author: P Funnell et al.

 

Page 15



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 2 of 36

Introduction............................................................................................................................................3
Brecon Beacons National Park................................................................................................................4
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) .................................................................................5
The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan ..........................................................................6
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015..............................................................................7

Well-being Goals ................................................................................................................................................7

Organising our Work: Priority Work Areas .............................................................................................7
The Structure of this Plan .......................................................................................................................9

Planning Assumptions ......................................................................................................................................10

COVID-19 Recovery ..............................................................................................................................11
Spatial projects .....................................................................................................................................11

Black Mountains Land Use Partnership............................................................................................................11

Waterfall Country .............................................................................................................................................11

Place Plans........................................................................................................................................................12

Further spatial projects to be scoped in-year...................................................................................................12

Thematic projects .................................................................................................................................14
Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) ...............................................................................................................14

Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) ......................................................................................................14

Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP).........................................................................................................14

Sustainable Rural Economy ..............................................................................................................................15

Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) ..............................................................................................................16

Policy and Strategy Projects .................................................................................................................17
National Park Management Plan ((2021-2025) (NPMP)) .................................................................................17

Local Development Plan 2 ((2018-2033) (LDP2))..............................................................................................17

Statutory and Core services projects....................................................................................................19
Change Programme..........................................................................................................................................19

Digital Delivery .................................................................................................................................................20

Social Inclusion and Strategic Equality .............................................................................................................20

Appendix 1 – Projects’ objectives, actions and indicators....................................................................21
Spatial Projects .................................................................................................................................................21

Thematic Projects .............................................................................................................................................22

Policy and Strategy Projects .............................................................................................................................28

Statutory and Core Services .............................................................................................................................31

Appendix 2 – The Five Ways of Working ..............................................................................................35
Appendix 3 – Financial analysis ............................................................................................................36

Page 16



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 3 of 36

Introduction
This Corporate Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA, the Authority) 
represents the start of a new phase for the Authority in terms of how we prioritise and focus our 
activity to achieve maximum impact with the limited resources at our disposal.  It has been finalised 
and published later than normal since it was in final preparation when the extent and seriousness of 
the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic started to become clear. As a result of the pandemic and the 
uncertainties surrounding the crisis, its consequences for public funding and the high profile role of 
protected landscapes in steps being taken for national recovery, the plans set out in this document are 
likely to be subject to considerable revision over the course of the financial year 2020/21.

The Corporate Plan sets out the Authority’s priorities and activities for the year ahead; at the time of 
writing, the majority of our work is linked to Welsh Government (WG) aspirations for managing the 
COVID-19 pandemic and ensuing public health and economic challenges. The Plan seeks to show how 
the Authority will plan for the development and delivery of the longer-term aspirations of the National 
Park Management Plan within the context of Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021 (Welsh Government 
2016), programme for government, Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government's Priorities for Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks (Welsh Government 2018); the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act places a duty1 on the Authority to set out its Well-being 
objectives and to2 demonstrate how delivery of these contributes to the Welsh Government’s Well-
being Goals3.  

The Authority is committed to continually improving its delivery and services. Our work has a direct 
impact on the people who live in, work in and enjoy the protected landscape that is the National Park 
and we want to be open and transparent about our priorities and how we are performing.

1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/9/enacted
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/7/enacted
3 In May of this year the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales laid her first five-year report before the Senedd. This report 
assesses the improvements public bodies should make in relation to their well-being objectives and identifies areas for action for all public 
bodies subject to the act. 
FGCW (2020) The Future Generations Report Future Generations Commissioner for Wales https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-
ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf

Page 17

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-08/taking-wales-forward.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 4 of 36

Brecon Beacons National Park
The Brecon Beacons National Park was designated in 1957. It is one of fifteen National Parks in the 
UK and one of three in Wales. The Park covers 1,347 square kilometres (520 square miles) and lies 
between rural Mid Wales and the industrial South Wales Valleys. It is a diverse landscape, where 
sweeping uplands contrast with green valleys, dramatic waterfalls, ancient woodland, archaeological 
sites, caves, forests, reservoirs and vibrant communities4. 

The Park is recognised by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as a 
Category V [5] protected landscape which means that it is:

“A protected area where the interaction of people and nature over time has produced an area of 
distinct character with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic value: and where 
safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its 
associated nature conservation and other values.” www.iucn.org

This definition acknowledges that the National Park landscape is dynamic, shaped by human activity 
and natural processes over millennia5.  An understanding of the human influence on landscape is 
especially important given the evidence of the effects of human activity on biodiversity6 and the 
climate7.  Our landscapes continue to change in response to the choices we make about the use of 
land and its management.  The outcomes of these choices are not always positive despite best 

4 Further information about the Park can be found on the Authority’s website: www.beacons-npa.gov.uk, the destination website: 
www.breconbeacons.org/ and in the National Park Management Plan (2015-2020).
5 BBNPA (2012) Landscape Character Assessment Prepared By Fiona Fyfe Associates With Countryscape, Alison Farmer Associates and Julie 
Martin Associates 
6 IPBES (2019): Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and 
Ecosystem Services. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and H. T. Ngo (editors). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany
7 IPCC, (2018): Summary for Policymakers. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C 
above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of 
climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, 
P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. 
Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.)].

Page 18

http://www.iucn.org/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/
file:///C:/Users/sgray/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.IE5/HT2P2123/www.breconbeacons.org/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/1.0_Executive-Summary_final_-120930.pdf
https://ipbes.net/global-assessment
https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/05/SR15_SPM_version_report_LR.pdf


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 5 of 36

intentions and the landscape of the National Park partly shows the results of human intervention which 
has in some instances resulted in significant ecological damage8. It is imperative that harmful 
interactions between people and nature are identified and challenged, avoided where possible, 
mitigated where not. Much of the work identified in this plan seeks to address these issues, not least 
the review of the National Park Management Plan which aims to manage landscape level change 
through collaborative action, for the enrichment of people and nature to the benefit of current and 
future generations.

2019 marked the 70th Anniversary of the National Park movement in the United Kingdom and, while 
our roots are firmly based in a social reform tradition which saw us created at the same time as the 
National Health Service and Town & Country Planning system, we now face real and present challenges 
in relation to climate change and biodiversity loss. This Corporate Plan therefore represents the start 
of a shift in the Authority’s work priorities in response to these twin challenges.

Through the Corporate Plan the Authority seeks to articulate the work it will do each year to drive 
forward the National Park Management Plan, Local Development Plan and other principal plans and 
strategies with a clear framework of where we want to be in 5 years' time. 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA)
The Authority was established by the Environment Act 1995 which sets out the Park’s two purposes:

1. ‘to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 
National Parks’

2. ‘to promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities 
by the public’9

In pursuit of the two statutory purposes, the Authority has a duty to:

‘seek to foster the economic and social well-being of local communities within the 
National Park by working closely with the agencies and local authorities responsible 
for these matters’10

The 1995 Act makes explicit that the Authority is not to incur significant expenditure in pursuance of 
our duty, rather this should be delivered through collaboration with other public bodies whose 
functions include the promotion of economic or social development within the area of the National 
Park.11

The Authority contributes to many of the Welsh Government’s wider goals for the economy; health; 
education; sustainability and social inclusion as set out in ‘Taking Wales forward 2016-2021’. Direction 
for Wales’s protected landscapes was given in the written statement ‘Valued and Resilient: The Welsh 
Government’s Priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks’ published in July 2018.

8 BBNPA (2019) A Future with Nature at its Heart: Nature Recovery Action Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park 2019-2024
9 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/61/enacted

10 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted
11 Environment Act (1995) (62)11A(1)  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted

Page 19

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/BBNPA-Nature-Recovery-A4-ENG-WEB.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/61/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 6 of 36

Our Vision:
Part of the work in setting a new National Park Management Plan  involves re-framing our 20 year 
Vision for the National Park in response to the twin challenges of climate change and biodiversity loss 
and in response to key drivers such as Brexit and the Covid-19 Pandemic.

The National Park Management Plan will articulate the 20 year vision for the Park.

To reinforce and help us measure our progress we will frame the Corporate Plan within a 5 year time 
horizon while specifying the annual actions we will be undertaking each year.  We will produce periodic 
reports on the State of the Park using the best available evidence.

For the purposes of this first transition Corporate Plan, which is running ahead of the National Park 
Management Plan review, our working vision is for the Authority to:

Respond positively and effectively, in concert with key partners, to the twin 
emergencies of climate change and biodiversity loss through achieving 
demonstrable improvements in the condition of the National Park’s natural 
environments and building capacity and understanding within our communities 
and our visitors which sustains their long-term well-being in the face of future 
uncertainties.

The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan
The revised Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan12 will set the long-term vision and will 
provide the framework for decision-making and priority actions within the Authority. 

The Management Plan is a shared plan for everyone with a responsibility for managing the area – public 
bodies, third sector and private landowners alike. The Management Plan is a collaborative document, 
produced through extensive consultation and engagement with a range of stakeholders. The breadth 
of contributions is reflected in the scope and ambition of the Plan. 

The Management Plan is currently under review and a new plan for 2021-25 will be delivered during 
the life of this Corporate Plan, consequently a priority within this year's work programme is delivering 
a new plan. During this process we will agree new Well-being goals for the Park in consultation with 
stakeholders, residents and visitors.

The new plan will need to take account of the overwhelming evidence of the harm that human activity 
has caused to biodiversity, ecosystems and the climate.  Assessing this at Park level is not always 
possible but the Authority has attempted to do this where feasible in a State of the Park Report to be 
published later this year.  

The Management Plan underwent assessment in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations (now 2017) and was prepared through the process of Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
(Wales) regulations 2004. Where necessary individual plans, projects and programme development 
are screened for the necessity to undertake HRA or SEA as appropriate. 

12will http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/

Page 20

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 7 of 36

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 puts in place a ‘sustainable development 
principle’ which public bodies are required to enact when making decisions:

The 5 ways of working - The sustainable development principle
Long term Prevention Integration Collaboration Involvement

The five ways of working are described in more detail here http://futuregenerations.wales/about-
us/future-generations-act/. The work of the Authority is planned and delivered in accordance with the 
five ways of working as set out throughout this document and specifically in Appendix 2.   

Well-being Goals
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) focuses on improving the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by introducing seven Well-Being Goals (see fig 2 
below).  Together they provide a shared vision for public bodies to work towards.13

Figure 2, the 7 Well Being Goals:

The Authority was an early adopter of the Act and ensures that the contribution to the 7 goals is a 
key consideration for all its planning and delivery activity.  

Organising our Work: Priority Work Areas

As part of the preliminary work to deliver the new Management Plan we have undertaken a review of 
future priorities considering the climate and nature emergencies, taking as our starting point the 
Management Plan themes which were also corporate goals for the Management Plan period. 

13 The 7 Well Being Goals as defined by table 1 of section four of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015   
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/4/enacted 

Page 21

http://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
http://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/4/enacted


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 8 of 36

These are:

Management Plan Themes/Corporate Goals

Theme 1: Managing Park Landscapes to Maximise Conservation and Public Benefits

Theme 2: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity

Theme 3: Provide Opportunities for Outdoor Access and Recreation

Theme 4: Raising Awareness and Understanding of the Park

Theme 5: Building and Maintaining Sustainable Communities, Towns and Villages

Theme 6: Sustainable Economic Development

These themes have now been grouped into three priority areas with accompanying outcomes: 

LAND USE & NATURE RECOVERY
To re-establish a connected network of species-rich and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons
INSPIRING PEOPLE & PLACES
To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand the heritage, places and special qualities of 
the Brecon Beacons
COMMUNITIES & RURAL ENTERPRISE
To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green 
infrastructure 

For each of these priorities three focus areas have been agreed within which we will work with 
partners towards achieving the outcomes stated above. These are:

Figure 3, priorities and focus areas

These are related to the delivery of the National Park’s Purposes and Duty as set out in this schematic:

Page 22



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 9 of 36

 

Figure 4, priorities related to statutory purposes and duty

This is currently an internal approach that will be discussed, evaluated and refined with partners, 
stakeholders and the wider public as part of the review and development of the next Management 
Plan over the course of the year. Consequently, this Corporate Plan may be subject to changes in 
emphasis, priority and activity.

The Structure of this Plan

Our plan will be adaptive and respond to the changing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The work programmes and projects that we deliver will typically have a strong contribution within a 
specific focus area but have aspects that contribute across the themes and focus areas. Therefore, 
projects are arranged by type as follows:

 COVID-19 Recovery – Work required to ensure the Park can play its part in restoring 
national well-being after the pandemic 

 Spatial – Programmes and projects situated at specific sites or areas around the Park
 Thematic – Programmes and projects that are defined by a theme or concept
 Strategic – Projects to renew our main strategic plans
 Statutory & Core Services – Improving the organisation’s services and ensuring we meet 

our statutory and regulatory requirements

These interrelationships are expressed visually in this schematic:

Page 23



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 10 of 36

 

Figure 5, Corporate Plan structure

An analysis of this year’s budget by 3 themes and 9 focus areas can be seen at appendix 3.

Planning Assumptions

The restrictions in movement brought about by COVID-19 pandemic have had a significant global 
impact, and unfortunately, the Corporate Plan and our work programmes for 2020/21 have not been 
immune to the pandemic. The virus has in many ways transformed the socio-economic conditions into 
which future policy will play out. It will be necessary for the Authority to frame all future Corporate 
Plans and examine their fitness, both in terms of the challenges and opportunities facing the National 
Park in a post-COVID world.

In view of the major impact of COVID-19 on the Authority’s work, this plan has been prepared on 
the assumption that normal operational work patterns will be resumed at the end of September 2020. 
This is purely a planning assumption and it is highly likely that outputs will be different from what is 
contained in this plan. The implementation of work will be adapted to take account of these changes 
as they unfold but it will not be possible to continually update this plan. Outcomes and outputs will be 
reported at the end of the year and the impact of actual time scales for COVID-19 recovery will be 
built into the reporting at that stage. 

It is also likely that additional, unpredicted work will be necessary on top of what is currently planned 
in order to manage the Authority’s obligations to the public and achieve as beneficial a set of outcomes 
from the crisis as possible. If this happens, this work will be reported at year end, along with a summary 
of what work has not been possible under these circumstances.

Areas which are particularly vulnerable to COVID-19 restrictions include:
 Work involving partners, suppliers, contractors and consultants which may have gone out of 

business or have furloughed staff
 Work involving consultation and co-working with local communities
 Work involving visitors and businesses
 Work that cannot be implemented due to social distancing requirements imposed by ourselves 

or Government

Page 24



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 11 of 36

 Visitor communications work
 Work necessitating access to closed areas of the National Park

A revised budget will be produced in the autumn and Audit Wales will be conducting a review on the 
impact of the pandemic on the Authority’s work.

COVID-19 Recovery 
Most of the Park’s Public Rights of Way (PRoW) remain open to the public. At the time of writing, 
the National Park Authority is actively reviewing the list of sites that were locked down under the 
Health Protection (Corona Virus 19) (Wales) Regulations 2020. This is to identify those sites where 
it will be acceptable to ease the lockdown sequentially wherever possible, in line with Welsh 
Government recommendations, guidance and timetable, whilst maintaining effective health protection 
for the public and staff. This will be underpinned by risk assessments and supported with up to date 
key messaging, co-ordinating as much as possible with other key stakeholders. 

We will review the management and working practices of our visitor centres, offices and depots, 
aiming to resume operations, similarly based on appropriate risk assessments. Additionally, we are 
actively reviewing our site-based countryside management work, for example Rights of Way 
maintenance, habitat management, surveying and monitoring, in order to safeguard the integrity of 
these areas of work.

Recognising the role the Park has to play in national recovery we will: 

• work to support new audiences and connect with them as they visit the National Park 

• work with the UK Communications, Branding and Marketing Unit (funded by all the UK 
Family of Parks) to plan campaigns and shared messaging 

• work with the Welsh Government and the destination partner, Brecon Beacons Tourism, 
to deliver appropriate messages 

• utilize the new Countryside Code approved by the Secretary of State in June and continue 
to work with Natural Resources Wales who lead on the code

Year 1 (2020) Outcomes:

 All Sites closed in response to the pandemic have been re-opened are being used responsibly 
by the public, with manageable pressure on staff, the public and public resources.

 The Authority has assessed the impact of Covid-19 and produced a “Lessons Learnt/ 
Opportunities Lost/ Opportunties Identified” Report to inform future work and working 
practices.

 The Authority has captured feedback on Visitor Behaviour from staff, volunteers and partners.

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1

Spatial projects

Page 25



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 12 of 36

The COVID-19 pandemic and the attendant lockdown response means that work is curtailed and 
constrained during the current financial year but the following projects are live:

Black Mountains Land Use Partnership
As this Plan is written, this Sustainable Management Scheme (SMS) project, which is led by the 
Partnership Board rather than the BBNPA, is in its final months of completion, pending consent from 
Rural Payments Wales to extend the project until the end of August 2020. Final works to complete 
include bracken management, remedial works on the peatland restoration, continuing the ranger work 
and completing the Payment for Ecosystem Services (PES) Sponsorship Portfolio reports. However, 
education and visitor management projects are on hold. The Partnership Board maintains regular 
liaison with the Welsh Parliament SMS team and is actively exploring setting up its own company 
structure to ensure that the Partnership continues beyond the SMS.

Year 1 (2020) Outcome:

 The current Sustainable Management Scheme Project has been successfully completed
 The partnership has put a clear exit strategy in place and has secured sufficient funding to 

maintain momentum post SMS.

Waterfall Country Partnership
The Authority has long had a presence in managing visitors to Waterfalls Country as it represents one 
of the most popular visitor destinations in the Park.  Work on the ground is clearly not possible during 
the COVID-19 crisis. However, of more importance is that communication with local people has been 
disrupted. Face-to-face consultations remain unachievable but community newsletters and social media 
communications are continuing. Equally desk research into opportunities and costings will move 
forward. 

The aim is to submit an Expression of Interest to Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) by the end of the 
Financial Year, based on a well-established long-term plan for visitors, residents and the environment. 
If possible, we should be close to agreeing a Development Phase application by that point. This will 
need full buy-in from partners.

Year 1 (2020) Outcome:

 An HLF Expression of Interest has been submitted 
 Governance arrangements to support the Waterfalls Task & Finish Group and the fledgling 

Partnership have been strengthened
 A post Covid-19 recovery plan for the area is in place

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1

Place Plans
Place Plans are a mechanism introduced by Welsh Government to help communities to engage 
creatively with the planning process and to enable planners to support place-making initiatives with 
local people. Previously referred to as Village or Town Plans by the Authority, a Place Plan is a place-
based community derived action plan linked to the Local Development Plan. Once adopted by the 

Page 26



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 13 of 36

Authority a community’s Place Plan is used in the determination of planning applications within the 
place to which the plan refers.

The role of Place Plans is being reviewed as part of the development of LDP2. Place plans have already 
been produced within Hay-on-Wye and Crickhowell supported by the Authority and other key 
organisations.

New Place Plans are in preparation in the following communities:

 Brecon
 Talgarth
 Llanspyddid
 Llangattock
 Llangynidr
 Llanelly

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes: 

 The Authority can evidence that the National Park has become more resilient for current and 
future generations living in and around the area. 

 The Planning system is engaged with communities and planning outcomes are linked to 
community-defined needs.

 Place Plans have been produced and are being implemented in 5 of the 6 areas.

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Further spatial projects to be scoped in-year
The National Park lies at the core of the Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment (BBMC) partnership 
established by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW).  Several programmes underway in the Park are 
of direct relevance to the BBMC and our aim is to achieve closer working with DCWW, including 
direct support of our work to help deliver BBMC objectives, especially in these three important areas. 
The Authority has an ambition, working with partners, to develop programmes of work in the 
following areas:

Central Beacons

Usk Catchment

Llangors Lake

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes: 

 The Authority can demonstrate clear progress in 2 of these areas.

Page 27



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 14 of 36

Thematic projects

Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP)
The works scheduled prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown implementation were planned, 
budgeted for and commissioned. The lockdown means that delivery scheduled for completion during 
2020-21 will now continue into 2021-22.

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes: 

 The Authority can evidence that the state of the Park's ecosystems has improved
 The Authority has established a workable process to identify key opportunities for conserving, 

enhancing and restoring ecological networks
 The Authority has developed measures to record the impact of NRAP delivery on the facets 

of ecological resilience across a diversity of habitats and at a variety of scales
 The Local Nature Partnership can demonstrate what it has achieved
 A suite of local projects is in place delivering nature recovery enhancements
 The Authority can evidence increased engagement of non-specialists with wildlife recording, 

resulting in enhanced knowledge and records

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP)
The principal focus for Rights of Way (RoW) and access management will be on controlling access to 
the Park’s hotspots in line with the COVID-19 (Wales) Regulations. This will be achieved in accordance 
with WG recommendations, guidance and timetable, and will be delivered sequentially. Where 
possible outside this essential work, RoW and access delivery will be geared to the annual ROWIP 
Delivery Plan. Additionally, the Authority will deliver the year’s capital projects financed by the WG.

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes:

 The Authority can demonstrate that the quality of the public rights of way and access network 
has improved.

 More parts of the National Park can be enjoyed and accessed by more people across a wider 
range of abilities

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP)
The historic landscape of the National Park is a valued asset and cultural resource that requires 
appropriate management.  The task is massive and one that the Authority cannot hope to achieve 
acting in isolation. 

This year we are proposing to identify and work with key partners within the heritage sector to define 
a co-ordinated action plan for the future management of the Park’s historic landscape.  The output 

Page 28



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 15 of 36

of this work will be twofold, the creation of a Historic Environment Partnership (HEP) and the Historic 
Environment Action Plan. (HEAP) 

The creation of the partnership and the development of the HEAP in draft, are priorities for the 
Heritage team this year.   We recognise however that the collaborative nature of this project may be 
significantly impacted by the restrictions in movement and working practice brought about as a result 
of the COVID-19 crisis. As a result, we acknowledge the potential for this project to continue beyond 
the scope of this Corporate Plan.

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes 

 Improved working relations with key stakeholders within the heritage sector through the 
constitution of the HEP 

 Agreed suite of shared objectives for the management of the historic environment of the 
National Park

 Increased resources and capacity available for the management of the historic environment 
within the National Park through the collaborative action of the HEP 

 To have demonstrated the interconnectedness of the historic, natural, and anthropogenic 
environments, identified trade-offs, and articulated future actions to deliver multiple benefits 

 Increase in % of SAMs and Listed Buildings in good condition; and
 Increase in extent of historic landscapes, parks and gardens in good condition and/or under 

favourable management.

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1

Sustainable Rural Economy
To date, work on the local economy has been largely confined to sustainable tourism and supporting 
external projects through SDF.  Tourism projects seek to support the full range of sustainability 
outcomes whether through supporting the greening of businesses, the promotion of shorter supply 
chains, the engagement of local communities or the development of longer stays to promote added 
value.

There is a need for a review of our work on supporting the Sustainable Rural Economy and this is 
scheduled to take place in 2020-21, although delayed by the Covid19 crisis.  In the meantime, there 
are ongoing projects to which we are committed that are designed to add to the sustainability of the 
National Park and the protection/enhancement of its special qualities.  Due to external funding these 
pose relatively little financial burden on the organisation.  The projects will be flexed to absorb the 
opportunities that Covid19 confers to our objectives but equally we will support partners in their 
work to aid the recovery of our communities and businesses.

Year 1 (2020) Outcome:

 The Authority has adopted a Position Statement which articulates its ambition and priorities 
for achieving a sustainable rural economy post Covid-19

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes:

 The Authority has developed a clear set of priorities and a programme of work which 
articulates how it will support the rural economy in cooperation with our partners

 Successful projects, delivering sustainable outcomes with high levels of external funding 
 The business community has an enhanced appreciation of the Authority and its work

Page 29



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 16 of 36

 The quality of visitor experiences and their appreciation of the National Park has been 
enhanced

 The Authority can evidence that the rural economy is making progress in addressing climate 
change and biodiversity recovery

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Sustainable Development Fund (SDF)
The aim of the SDF is to develop and test ways of achieving a more sustainable way of living in a 
countryside of great natural beauty and diversity in which the local characteristics of culture, wildlife, 
landscape, land use and community are conserved and enhanced. The objectives of the Fund are: 

1. To explore innovative ways of contributing as far as practicable to the Welsh Government’s 
vision of a sustainable Wales and of breaking down barriers to sustainability 

2. To integrate sustainable development with the special qualities of the National Park and 
demonstrate the contribution of a strong sense of place and local identity to well-being and 
sustainable living

3. To build capacity in local communities and to develop and support community-based projects 
promoting sustainable development objectives

4. To generate greater awareness and understanding of sustainability amongst residents and 
visitors and facilitate positive behaviour change

SDF Projects are assessed against, and make a significant contribution to, the Well-being Goals, as set 
out in the Well-being of Future Generations Act. The Well-being Goals inform the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Management Plan, which ensures that well-being is at the heart of managing the National 
Park. 

Year 5 (2025) Outcome: 

 Successive SDF Annual Reports are evidencing increased sustainability for those living in, 
working in and visiting the National Park, while also conserving and enhancing its local culture, 
wildlife, landscape and communities.

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Policy and Strategy Projects

National Park Management Plan ((2021-2025) (NPMP))
The NPMP is a plan for the whole of the Park, not just the NPA. It should be prepared in collaboration 
with partners. The NPA is developing an engagement strategy for the preparation and delivery of the 
NPMP and the Local Development Plan 2 (LDP2). 

The Engagement Strategy and NPMP are being prepared in the context of restrictions to the types of 
engagement that are possible in light of COVID-19. Lockdown and social-distancing measures limit 
opportunities for workshops and face-to-face working. Organisations focusing on delivering core 

Page 30



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 17 of 36

services to survive the pandemic (including furloughing staff) further restrict opportunities to engage 
with stakeholders. 

As a result, the NPA is developing new ways of working in order to deliver the NPMP, building on the 
partnership working recently undertaken preparing plans with an impact on the Park, such as the 
NRAP, the ROWIP and the LDP2. 

Year 5 (2025) Outcome: 

 The Authority has secured improved working relationships and shared commitment to 
working collaboratively on successive 5-year programmes which embrace the challenges and 
opportunities identified within a 20-year planning horizon.

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Local Development Plan 2 ((2018-2033) (LDP2))
The Authority as a Local Planning Authority has a requirement placed upon it by the Planning Act to 
produce a Local Development Plan for the area and to review that plan every four years.  

The Authority is currently in the process of developing its second LDP (LDP2) which will cover the 
period 2018-2033.  The process of writing a Local Development Plan is anticipated to last three and a 
half years, therefore LDP2 development spans across corporate plan cycles.  This year the focus will 
be on the production of the Deposit LDP and submission of the LDP2 and its associated documents 
to the WG for independent examination.

At time of writing both the timetable and content of LDP2 are being challenged by the Coronavirus 
crisis.  At present officers are working to a four-month delay to take account of potential for 
consultation deficit.  The detailed timetable set out at appendix 1 will be reviewed at each reporting 
cycle to highlight any further COVID-19 related delays.

Year 5 (2025) Outcomes:

 The Authority can demonstrate clear understanding of the detailed socio-economic and 
environmental challenges facing the National Park through the development of a detailed 
evidence base in support of the Deposit LDP

 Stakeholders have an understanding of the scale and location of development land necessary 
to meet future needs as understood by the Authority

 The Authority can demonstrate that its suite of strategic and detailed policies which guide 
development in the National Park are achieving the desired policy outcomes.

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Page 31



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 18 of 36

Statutory and Core services projects

Change Programme
In 2019 the Authority embarked on a programme to re-focus its efforts in order to deliver stronger 
outcomes which have more impact while at the same time taking account of the challenges the 
National Park is facing.

A component of that work comprised organisational change and the Authority was consulting with 
staff on a set of proposals to restructure the Authority when the COVID-19 Lockdown regime came 
into force.  The decision was taken to suspend the Change Programme and at the time of writing it is 
not yet clear how and when the Programme can be resumed. This element of the Corporate Plan will 
clearly require ongoing review and revision as the roadmap to exiting lockdown becomes clearer.

Year 1 (2020) Outcomes: 

The outcomes the Change Programme is seeking to deliver are:

 The Authority can demonstrate how it has focussed future priorities under the three work 
programmes and nine focus areas referred to in the section ‘Organising Our Work’ above.

 The Authority has aligned the National Park Management Plan to these priorities
 The Authority has started to engage partners on partnerships and projects which deliver 

integrated outcomes
 The Authority can demonstrate clear progress in developing flexible, project-based ways of 

working including appropriate project management processes.

In supporting these outcomes, the associated restructuring which was being consulted upon is seeking 
to create:

 Clear lines of accountability and decision making
 More flexible capacity and increased collective working
 More integrated and interdisciplinary working through project teams
 More streamlined and efficient management arrangements
 Proportionately more resources ‘on the ground’

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Page 32



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 19 of 36

Digital Delivery
The COVID-19 pandemic has placed unprecedented demands on the Authority’s IT resources with a 
rush to implement remote working for staff and decision-making for Members. Inevitably this work 
has had to be carried out in a highly reactive mode without the usual considerations for forward 
planning and change management. Fortunately, work was already underway to deliver a Welsh 
Government-funded programme of updates to IT infrastructure and services which has allowed a rapid 
deployment of new resources through accelerating existing plans. A review of the IT Strategy in order 
to assist with the implementation of the change programme has been put on hold and will be picked 
up later in the year.

The rapid scaling-up of working from home has further highlighted the inadequacy of broadband 
provision in many rural areas. This is not something the Authority can directly address, but it 
recognises its role as an advocate, and as an information exchange for community-led broadband 
schemes which may be eligible for some additional support through the SDF.

Year 1 (2020) Outcome: 

The Authority can demonstrate how it is harnessing digital technology to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of its services and functions

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Social Inclusion and Strategic Equality
Wales’ National Parks strive through the delivery of their purposes and duty to connect people with 
their natural and cultural heritage. Through proactive engagement they promote social inclusion and 
reduce the negative impact of poverty on people’s ability to access and benefit from these protected 
landscapes. 

The three National Parks in Wales aim to be exemplars for social inclusion and to promote the 
principles and practices of equality. Together we have co-produced ‘Landscapes for Everyone’ - a 
position statement for social inclusion and child poverty. This position statement and related actions 
identify how the Welsh National Parks will deliver their purposes and duty whilst meeting the 
requirements of the WG’s ‘Valued and Resilient: the Welsh Government’s priorities for designated 
landscapes’.

The Brecon Beacons National Park, in having areas of deprivation lying within and adjacent to its 
boundary faces specific challenges in relation to social inclusion and equality of opportunity. The 
Authority recognises that it is ideally placed to help address some of these challenges, post Covid-19, 
in terms of health, education, and inclusion; and that we have a role to play in articulating embedding 
the new social values which are emerging in response to the pandemic, climate change and biodiversity 
loss.

Year 5 (2025) Outcome: 

The Authority can demonstrate a portfolio of achievements which tackle social inclusion, promote the 
principles and practices of equality and contribute to the health and wellbeing for all the people of 
Wales and beyond.  

Page 33



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 20 of 36

The Authority can evidence what steps it has taken to address the barriers facing people who live in, 
visit  and enjoy  the National Parks of Wales, and can demonstrate that, as landscapes for everyone,  
more people enjoy and have an appreciation for  Wales’ Designated Landscapes.

For specific annual actions and indicators see appendix 1

Appendix 1 – Projects’ objectives, actions and indicators

This appendix sets out the detailed activity for the projects outlined above in the year ahead and shows 
how we will measure and judge our delivery towards the expected outcomes against each objective.

COVID-19 Recovery

Project/ 
Programme Objective Actions Indicators

Sites review RAG sequential 
release

Offices, depots 
and centres 
review

RAG sequential 
return to 
operations with 
social distancing

To minimise the risk of COVID-19 
transmission between members of 
the public and staff as the lockdown 
on access to countryside hotspots 
is released.

Countryside 
management 
review

Return to 
operations with 
social distancing

Produce an 
Impact Report Report produced

COVID-19 
lockdown 
review and 
release

To understand how Covid-19 has 
impacted upon the Authority’s 
work and people’s enjoyment of 
the National Park itself Capture Visitor 

Behaviour 
feedback

Feedback obtained 
and summarised

Spatial Projects

Black Mountains Land Use Partnership

Page 34



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 21 of 36

Project/ 
Programme Objective Actions Indicators

Sustainable 
Management 
Scheme 
Project 

SMS project completed 
successfully Final Project ReportBlack 

Mountains 
Land-Use 
Partnership Post SMS Exit Strategy 

in place

Future Road map in place for BMLUP 
and funding secured to progress next 
stage

Waterfall Country Partnership

Project/ 
Programme Objective Actions Indicators

Strengthen Governance 
Arrangements to 
support for Task & 
Finish Group and 
fledgling partnership

Strengthened Governance Structures 
approved by partners

Develop, agree & 
submit HLF Expression 
of Interest 

Submit HLF Expression of Interest by 
March 2021

Implement Comin y Rhos & Traffic 
Management Order projects by March 
2021 if WG permissions and COVID-19 
Restrictions on community consultations 
allow.
Finalise Communication Plan and Public 
Transport Report
Commission Lower Pontneddfechan 
design plan  

Implement short term 
relief measures whilst 
working on long term 
solutions

Ensure arrangements for visitor 
management Post COVID–19 are in 
place for 2021 season by March 2021

Maintain Community 
Engagement programme

Organise/support 3 community-based 
events by March 2021. Continue to 
communicate with local people by e-
newsletters (6 over year) and social 
media. Investigate e-focus group 
discussion opportunities

Undertake 12 months 
visitor survey project Commence Visitor Survey by Dec 2020

Waterfall 
Country

To 
generate 
an 
integrated 
solution to 
the issues 
of the area 
to benefit 
wildlife, 
heritage, 
visitors 
and local 
people

Support Community 
Council to deliver 
Waterfalls Futures 
project for community 
regeneration

Support delivery of at least Phase 2 of 
Waterfalls Futures project by March 
2021 

Page 35



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 22 of 36

Place Plans

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action Indicator

Brecon – Finalise & adopt 
community derived action 
plan and supplementary 
planning guidance. Encourage 
community implementation 
of the Action Plan

Adopt as SPG by 
March 2021 

Support the development of 
place plans in the spatial 
areas across the Park 
including Llangattock, 
Talgarth, and Llanspyddid  

Focussed 
discussions with 
each of the 
communities by 
March 2021

Place Plans   

Facilitate the co-
production of Place Plans 
with individual 
communities to maximise 
their involvement in 
decisions that affect them 

Review the efficacy of plans 
adopted up until April 2022 
in bringing about tangible 
benefits to the communities 
of their production

Review 
completed and 
presented to Policy 
Forum 

Thematic Projects
Nature Recovery Action Plan

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action

Indicator during 
2020-21 and 2021-
22

Commission and 
complete State of 
Nature Report

Project completion

Develop and submit a 
full grant proposal for 
the Vital Signs 
Monitoring Programme

Full grant proposal 
submitted

Improve our evidence, 
understanding and 
monitoring of ecological 
resilience within the 
National Park Commission and 

complete ecological 
networks mapping of the 
National Park

Project completion

Work with partners at all 
levels to unify local action 
for nature recovery and 
ensure integration with 
relevant natural resources 
plans and strategies

Recruit and develop the 
work programme for 
the LNP Implementation 
Officer

Successful recruitment

Nature 
Recovery 
Action Plan

Increase the resilience of 
our natural environment by 
protecting existing semi-
natural habitats, restoring 
degraded habitats and 
creating new areas of habitat

Refine and agree the 
primary ecosystems and 
areas for focused 
project development 
and funding

Process underway 
(reliant on ecological 
network mapping, 
State of Nature 
reporting and 
professional 
knowledge)

Page 36



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 23 of 36

Identify and deliver action 
for key species and habitats 
as part of a wider, 
integrated nature recovery 
programme

Secure funding and 
develop a 
comprehensive invasive 
non-native species 
(INNS) control 
programme for the 
whole of the BBNP

Funding secured

Engage with a diversity of 
audiences about nature 
recovery

Deliver the first season 
of biological recording 
and training events with 
the Biological 
Information Service (BIS)

Events programme 
developed and 
delivered

Rights of Way Improvement Plan

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action Indicator

COVID-19 
access 
restrictions

Review and sequentially 
release the lockdown on 
sites and routes in line 
with WP 
recommendations and 
timetable

Recovery Action Plan

Number of sites and 
routes that remain 
on the Authority’s 
published list

Plan published and 
implemented

ROWIP

A high-quality PRoW and 
access network that 
allows people to enjoy 
healthy and active lifestyles 
with minimal 
environmental impact

Publish and implement the 
2020-2021 ROWIP Delivery 
Plan

The proportion of 
the PRoW and 
access network that 
is accessible and 
open

ROWIP Implement the Rights of 
Way Improvement Plan

Secure capital funding for 
and deliver the 2020-2021 
access and RoW capital 
projects

Funding secured, 
projects underway 
and delivered

Upland 
paths and 
erosion 
strategies

Implement the upland path 
and erosion plans

Deliver the upland path [and 
peat restoration] projects

Projects delivered 
and underway

ROWIP
Maintain high standards of 
public access and public 
rights of way

Assist WG’s Access Reform 
Advisory Group (ARAG) to 
finalise recommendation to 
WG

ARAG outputs

Page 37



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 24 of 36

Visitor Experience

Project/ 
Programme Objective Actions Indicators 

Re-open sites and re-
adjust/develop new 
ways of working

Visitors able to enjoy 
and benefit from the 
NPDeliver recovery of 

visitor experiences
Provide visitor 
experiences

Complete existing 
projects (Wales Way)

Visitor data

Phase 2 delivered

Destination website
Develop walking 
section

Deliver Phase 2 and 
work with Work with 
Brecon Beacons 
Tourism (BBT) in 
ongoing partnership

User data collected

Work with BBT on 
recovery

Support recovery
Deliver destination 
website and social 
media

Website data, social 
media data. Data from 
BBT and Visit Wales 
(VW) monitors

 

Develop plans Work completed
National Park Visitor 
Centre improvements

Improve the visitor 
experience and adapt 
for social distancing

Work with H&S 
advisors

Visitor numbers

 

Outcome:

Support for WG aspirations for learning and for the recovery of learning, especially within the groups 
most disadvantaged by the COVID-19 pandemic  

Programme Objective Actions Indicators 

Fairplay (funded)
Support WG and 
schools with learning 
recovery

As per WG policy
Engagements linked to 
policy

As per UK policyUK National Parks 
Learning and 
Outreach recovery 
plan

Support learning 
recovery Support to GCSE/A 

‘level learners

Support and 
engagement as per 
policy and UK-wide 
data

 

Page 38



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 25 of 36

Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP)

Programme   Objective  Actions  Indicator  

Develop a fully scoped project 
plan and project team for 
HEAP development 

Investigate feasibility for 
delivering HEAP project 
with in-house resources

Within 2 months 
project plan 
developed 
supported by 
required resources

Undertake stakeholder 
analysis to identify potential 
membership of future 
partnership 
Constitute a Historic 
Environment Partnership 
(HEP) with terms of 
reference which include 
commitment of resources 
to the development, 
implementation and 
monitoring of the HEAP  

Agree collective responsibility 
with key stakeholders for the 
management of the historic 
environment in the National 
Park over a five-year period 
(2020-2025) 
  

Define meeting program for 
HEAP development phase of 
partnership 

Within 6 months 
HEP constituted 
with 90% of key 
stakeholders 
agreeing to be 
named members. 
12-month Meeting 
program agreed 
and signed off by 
HEP 
 

Define vision and objectives 
for the management of the 
Historic Environment 
 

Within 2 months of 
HEP constitution, 
vision and 
objectives of the 
HEAP agreed by 
HEP.

Identify key actions to meet 
objectives and articulate as a 
coherent action plan 

Definition of 
actions to be 
undertaken by 
members of HEP in 
pursuance of 
agreed vision and 
objectives by 
February 2021 
 

Define a strategy for the 
management of the historic 
environment of the National 
Park for the next five years, 
that is actionable by all those 
with a stake in the National 
Park  

Publish draft action plan for 
wider consultation 

NPA approval to 
publish draft HEAP 
for consultation by 
April 2021 

Heritage 
Environment 
Action Plan  

Through the drafting of the 
HEAP investigate and 
articulate the potential for 
actions within the HEAP to 
provide multiple benefits 
within the National Park  

Formulate system for 
assessing proposed HEP 
actions against potential for 
delivery of multiple benefits 
(to occur concurrently with 
vision and objectives 
development) 
  

At least 75% of 
actions within draft 
HEAP to be able to 
provide tangible 
multiple benefits.

Page 39



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 26 of 36

Prioritise actions emerging 
within the HEAP which 
provide tangible multiple 
benefits.

Establish a HEP subgroup to 
develop a monitoring 
framework for the HEAP 
 

Objective assessment of the 
success of the HEAP in 
bringing about improvements 
in the historic environment 
and other capital assets

Monitoring and review is 
beyond the timeframe of 
this plan and is indicated for 
2021/22 

NPA approval to 
consult on 
proposed 
monitoring 
framework 
alongside 
consultation HEAP 
by April 2021 

Sustainable Rural Economy

Project/ 
Programme 

Objective Actions Indicator

‘Sustainable 
Rural 
Economies’ 
Position 
Statement

To articulate NPA 
position on the rural 
economy 

Draft and agree NPA 
Position Statement

Agreement of 
position statement 
by March 2021

Atlantic Culturescape 
(100% Interreg funding)

Achieve project 
indicators including 
heritage protection

Atlantic Geoparks (100% 
Interreg funding)

Achieve project 
indicators including 
visitor management 
and close by Nov 
2020

Day2Stay – Dark Skies 
(90% VW funded)

Achieve project 
indicators and close 
by March 2021

Local Food Project (100% 
RDP funded)

Launch project by 
Dec 2020. Re-
negotiate and 
achieve project 
indicators

Integrate NP 
Special 
Qualities into 
the Visitor 
Economy

With external funding, to 
develop new ways for 
visitors to bring income 
into the area whilst 
safeguarding and 
valorising NP special 
qualities

Work with partners to 
promote green 
certification/codes for 
businesses 

Develop and deliver 
new project/ 
workstream once 
existing projects 
close and funding 
available

Good Business 
Programme

To develop work 
programme and funding 
to encourage businesses 
to become greener

Work with Business 
Wales, WRAP etc to 
implement and promote 
training

Develop, new 
project/ 
workstream once 
existing projects 

Page 40



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 27 of 36

close and funding 
available

Ambassadors (20% RDP 
funded)

Deliver 50 business- 
days of training

Business Training re NP 
objectives

Deliver 50 business-
days of training

To train businesses to 
promote NP messages 
on conservation and 
visitor experience

Sustainable Destination 
Partnership 1 meeting per year

Influence other 
stakeholder’s projects

Engage with 2 
external projectsPartnership 

Working

To ensure efficient and 
effective working to 
achieve joint objectives 
between BBNPA and 
other stakeholders

Agree and deliver 
Geopark & Climate 
Change programme

Agree programme 
and seek funding

Complete Interreg 
programme and promote 
outputs

Achieve project 
indicators by Nov 
2020

Work with 3 local 
communities on inspiring 
people/climate change 

Work with 1 local 
community 

Complete and Launch 
Geopark Hwb

Completed by 
March 2021, launch 
planned

Geopark

To integrate visitor 
experience, economic 
development and 
environmental protection 
into the west of the 
National Park Achieve EGN re-

validation (due summer 
2020 but delayed) once 
post Corvid19 process is 
determined

Prepare for re-
validation by March 
2021

Improve Visitor 
Experience 

To work with partners 
to enable visitors to have 
a joined up and 
coordinated experience

Wales Way project – 
Llangors Toilets, Digital 
Wall, A470 welcome 
points (90% VW/WG 
funded)

Complete and close 
project by March 
2021

Achieve project 
indicators

Sustainable Development Fund (SDF)

Project/ 
Programme Objective Actions Indicators

Support community environmental 
emergency and decarbonisation 
projects with development advice, 
funding and sharing of best 
practiceSDF 

Maximise the benefit of 
pilot and innovative 
projects funded through 
SDF in-line with the new 
priority areas. Support projects conserving the 

historic environment 

Leverage 
generated – 
ratio 

Page 41



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 28 of 36

Other Priority Projects: 
Community Green Energy, 
Woodland and Seed Project, Peat 
Restoration, Local Food and 
Nature Recovery

Policy and Strategy Projects
National Park Management Plan

Project/ 
Programme Objective Actions Indicators

Determine and 
prioritise issues

Assessed and 
evidenced issues 
documented

Identify 
stakeholders

Stakeholder 
database organised

Plan engagement
Engagement plan 
tailored to issues 
and stakeholders

Engage on issues 
with 
stakeholders

Significant 
contribution and 
commitment 
gained

Summarise and 
distil component 
plans

Summaries in 
place

Renew vision Vision agreed

Draft policy Policies in place
Finish position 
statements

Position 
statements agreed

Agree 
programmes for 
action with 
partners

Programmes set 
out

Draft plan Draft agreed for 
consultation

Consult on draft 
plan

Targets reached 
or exceeded for 
feedback

Review existing 
NPMP and 
produce a new 
NPMP 2021-2025

Fulfil one of the Park’s statutory 
requirements by delivering an up 
to date NPMP to guide the 
delivery of the National Park 
purposes and Section 62(1) duty, 
assisted by the NPAs
statutory planning function

The new plan achieves an 
appropriate synthesis of the 
requirements and expectations of 
all stakeholders

Adopt (prepare 
easy read 
version if 
necessary)

Plan adopted (easy 
read version of 
Plan prepared if 
necessary)

Page 42



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 29 of 36

Local Development Plan 2 (LDP2) (2018-2033) 

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action Indicator

Delivery 
Agreement

Account for the 
impacts of COVID-19 
on the LDP timetable 
and ensure LDP2 is 
not subject to 
consultation deficit 

Review timetable with 
Welsh Government and 
seek extension to that 
approved

Agreement by Minister 
of additional 4 months 
within LDP timetable 
(Q1)

Evidence 
Gathering 
for Deposit 
LDP

To ensure that all 
policy making responds 
to key issues facing the 
National Park

Review all Topic papers 
against new and emerging 
evidence  

Review all issues papers 
against new and emerging 
policy relating to COVID-
19 recovery

New Issues emerging 
through NPMP Delphi 
process with land use 
planning implications to 
have associated Topic 
papers

All identified issues to 
have corresponding 
Topic Paper 

Each topic paper to 
receive sign off from 
Policy Working Group

Ongoing

 

Spatial 
Strategy 
Review

To ensure that the 
strategy of LDP2 is 
founded on an 
UpToDate 
understanding of the 
key issues facing the 
Park

Review Spatial Strategy 
against emerging evidence.

Draft amended strategy if 
necessary

Achieve agreement 
from NPA to undertake 
informal consultation on 
any proposed changes 
to spatial strategy ahead 
of Deposit 
Consultation.
Q1-2

Drafting 
Deposit LDP

To define policy and 
strategy to guide 
development for the 
NP area for the period 
2018-2033 that would 
pass soundness tests

Draft strategic policy for all 
topic areas
Draft all necessary policy
Define land allocations as 
necessary in accordance 
with findings of detailed site 
assessment.

NPA Endorsement to 
consult on Deposit 
LDP2 in accordance 
with revised timetable 
Q2

Appointment of 
Program Officer 

Consultation 
on Focused 
Changes

To demonstrate the 
value of the Deposit 
Consultation by 
providing the NP 
opportunity to 
respond to 
consultation 
comments.

Assess all comments 
received on the Deposit 
LDP and make changes as is 
considered necessary 
according with the 
evidence

NPA Endorsement to 
consult on Focussed 
Changes in accordance 
with revised timetable 
Q4

Submission 
of LDP to 

To produce sufficient 
documents to justify 

Review and update all 
evidence for submission

NPA Endorsement to 
submit LDP2 

Page 43



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 30 of 36

WG for 
Examination

the position of LDP2 
at examination.

documents to Welsh 
Government for 
examination in accord 
with revised timetable 
Q4

Integrated 
SA

To ensure that the 
action of the LDP does 
not have a significant 
impact on defined SA 
social economic and 
environmental 
objectives 

Update Scoping Report in 
light of emerging evidence 
and undertake any 
necessary consultation.

Assess emerging LDP2 
against revised SA 
framework.

NPA Endorsement of 
Environmental Report 
for consultation Q4

Habitats 
Regulation 
Assessment

To ensure that the 
protected elements of 
the NP landscapes are 
protected through the 
action of the LDP

Undertake Appropriate 
Assessment of all elements 
of LDP

NPA Endorsement of 
Habitats Regulation 
Assessment for 
consultation Q4

Page 44



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 31 of 36

Statutory and Core Services
Change programme

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action Indicator

Change 
programme

To progress the 
Authority’s Change 
Programme appropriately 
in the context of COVID-
19

Take stock of the 
programme in the context 
of the Recovery Plan, once 
it is in place and produce a 
revised programme and 
timetable

Revised change 
programme and 
timetable 
produced

no. of volunteer 
hours 
number of 
training coursesVolunteers  

Make volunteering 
opportunities intrinsic in 
the co-production of 
National Park projects

Deliver the Volunteer 
Policy action plan. Potential 
priority projects: 
Woodland and Seed 
project, Peat restoration

New volunteer 
management 
system in place 
and active 

Develop rural skills 
programmes in conjunction 
with programme and 
project leads

Indicators as 
per project 

Training and 
Apprenticeship 
programmes

Programmes align with 
strategy and are properly 
resourced

Seek funding for new 
training opportunities

Partners and 
funding streams 
identified – 
grant 
applications 
submitted 

Changes to the Scheme of 
Delegation to support thisReduced size of 

Authority

Implement the legislation 
and review impact on 
governance Additional member 

development as needed

Completion 
by 31/03/2021

Future Funding

Seek an integrated and 
longer-term approach to 
funding opportunities for 
protected landscapes

Work across National Parks 
Wales on options and 
approaches

Completion 
by 31/03/2021

COVID-19 
recovery

Manage the impacts of 
COVID-19 on the 
organisation

Establish plans and processes 
for:

 Wellbeing of Staff and 
Members

 Deployment of 
resources

 Ways of working
 Delivery of objectives
 Future accommodation 

needs
 Effects on lifestyle and 

culture

Completion 
by 31/03/2021

Page 45



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 32 of 36

Digital Delivery

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action Indicator

IT Strategy

Update the IT Strategy in 
support of the change 
programme and new ways 
of working

Consult with staff, 
members and 
stakeholders

Deliver strategy

Strategy adopted

Implement 
WG-funded IT 
programme

Deliver new tools and 
technologies to support 
delivery

Drone deployment
Remote cloud-based 
working
Smart Park network and 
sensors trial
Planning system 
improvements

Solutions in place 
and getting results, 
assessed by user 
survey

Corporate 
performance 
management 

Implement a new CPM 
system

Establish project brief, 
team, and plan then 
deliver

New system in 
place

Feedback from 
staff and Members

Authority 
website

Overhaul the design, 
structure and content of 
the Authority’s website

Establish project brief, 
team, and plan, then 
deliver

Revised site in 
place

Analytics on target

Page 46



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 33 of 36

Social Inclusion and Strategic Equality

Project/ 
Programme Objective Action Indicator 

Support local 
communities and groups 
in the co-production of 
project development, 
community resilience 
and funding 
opportunities.  

Determined 
by specific project indicators 

Engage and develop 
community interest and 
action for new National 
Park projects 

No. of groups/communities 
engaged with National Park 
projects

Community 
Development  

Promote positive 
action to provide 
an accessible 
National Park and 
continue to work 
to remove 
barriers identified 
for access and 
enjoyment of to 
the Brecon 
Beacons National 
Park.

Utilise the Community 
Newsletter for the 
development of National 
Park and Community 
projects 

 2 x 
Community Newsletters  

Delivery of ctions

Number of participants 

Small Steps

Improve mental 
health and reduce 
dependence on 
health services for 
participants 
through active 
engagement in 
activities in the 
National Park. 

Collaboration with 
Powys Teaching Health 
Board. Support 
participants, complete 
and review the 2-year 
project

Measurable changes in 
Health and well-being 

Schools 
Inclusion 
Activity  

Support schools 
with high % free 
school meals to 
experience 
BBNPA education 
programme 

Deliver Fair Play Project No. of schools and pupils 
supported

Number of communities 
engaged

Miles Without 
Stiles

Reduce barriers 
and improve 
accessibility in the 
National Park 

Work with local users, 
Town Councils and land-
owners around Brecon, 
Talgarth and 
Crickhowell to identify 
suitable routes where 
stiles and other barriers 
can be replaced with 
new self-closing gates

Number of accessible routes 
available. 

Upland Path 
Programme

Deliver National 
Park Upland path 
repairs and 
monitoring

Widening volunteering 
opportunities in 
conjunction with Gwent 
Drug and Alcohol 
Services 

No. of volunteers

Diversity and 
Awareness 
Training 

Create and 
maintain a diverse 
community of staff 
and volunteers 
who are able to 

Continue mandatory 
training including deaf 
awareness training, 
disability training, 
dementia awareness 

No of training sessions

Page 47



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 34 of 36

reach their full 
potential.

training and social 
inclusion training.
Continue our 
commitment to being a 
dementia friendly 
workplace
Work with Brecon Mind 
to raise awareness of 
Mental Health in the 
workplace.  

No of participants

Revisit the Authorities 
Bullying and Harassment 
Policy Introduce a Sexual 
Harassment Policy
Providing further access 
to support services

Ensure equality, 
diversity and 
inclusion are 

embedded in the 
organisation

Develop an Authority 
Behaviour Statement

Updated Authority Policies

Page 48



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 35 of 36

Appendix 2 – The Five Ways of Working
How the Authority’s strategic planning and delivery address the five ways of working set out in the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act:

Long Term - The Management Plan identifies a medium to long-term vision for the Park up to 2030 
and beyond, while also setting the context for key work areas within the Authority’s Corporate Plan. 
It is reviewed every five years. The Local Development Plan identifies land use planning policies over 
a medium term of fifteen years and is reviewed every four years. Both plans have been developed 
through consultation with a wide variety of stakeholders and identify policies and actions to enable 
focused and consistent decision-making. They are evidence-based plans that aim to anticipate future 
trends and have been developed in the context of the Park’s statutory purposes and duty and the 
IUCN guidelines for protected landscapes. They set objectives with a view to achieving a healthier, 
happier, prosperous and resilient Wales. 

Prevention - The Management Plan and Local Development Plan identify short and medium-term 
actions and policies to meet the shared vision for the Park. All actions and plans taken forward by the 
Authority (and partners) should be done within the context of this vision which in part aims to be 
resilient, responsive, open to change (particularly climate change) and proactive in mitigating and 
adapting to the effects of undesirable action regarding, amongst other things, biodiversity, climate 
change and tourism. The Park also provides an environment that can play an important role in 
preventing long-term medical conditions through a wide range of activities conducive to good physical 
and mental health.

Integration – This document demonstrates how the Authority’s objectives impact on the well-being 
goals. Other Authority objectives are identified in the Management Plan (2015-2020) and will continue 
to be pursued in a manner complementary with the well-being goals. The Authority is an invited 
partner on several Public Service Boards and contributes to a broad range of well-being objectives 
both through our own work and with partners. 

Collaboration – The Management Plan is the plan for the Park not the Authority and consequently 
its delivery involves a wide range of partners and stakeholders including the Welsh Government, the 
other two Welsh National Parks and the 5 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the wider UK family 
of National Parks, Natural Resources Wales, Local Authorities and their Public Service Boards, Town 
and Community Councils, landowners, community groups, special interest bodies, etc. The Authority 
has co-developed and co-delivered important work through the Local Nature Partnership, Black 
Mountains Land Use Partnership, Meithrin Mynydd, Waterfall Country, Sustainable Tourism 
Partnership and other collaborations.

Involvement -The Management Plan and the Local Development Plan are subject to regular 
consultation and review involving local communities, groups and agencies. In addition, the Authority 
carries out numerous consultations and engagements every year and has signed up to the Welsh 
Government’s principles for public engagement.

Page 49



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 36 of 36

Appendix 3 – Financial analysis

 Figure 5, Budget 2020/21, budget holders’ subjective analysis by 3 themes and 9 focus areas - 
budgets are subject to revision at mid-year to incorporate the impacts of Covid-19 and decisions 

pending on the change programme

Page 50



Amendment to Terms of Reference of Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 26 June 2020

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To propose changes to the composition of the committee to 
regularise an appointment and reflect the reduction in size of 
the Authority 

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendations a) To agree changes to the composition of the Audit 
and Scrutiny Committee to allow the Deputy 
Chairs of the Authority and Planning, Access and 
Rights of Way Committee to stand for 
appointment on Audit and Scrutiny Committee;

b) That if (a) is agreed, that Cllr Edwin Roderick be 
confirmed as a member of Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Authority on 29 July 2020.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Audit and Scrutiny Committee is currently composed as follows:

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Composition

1. The Committee shall comprise nine Members of the Authority.  The balance shall 
be six Unitary Authority Members and three Welsh Government appointees.

2. The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority and the Planning, Access and Rights 
of Way Committee will not be eligible to serve on this Committee.

At the Authority meeting on 26 May 2020 members agreed the addition of four 
members to the committee to address the gaps left when the Authority reduced from 
24 to 18 members. This included Cllr Edwin Roderick and officers did not advise at the 
time that under the current terms of reference the Deputy Chair of Planning, Access 
and Rights of Way Committee was not eligible to sit on Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

This oversight needs to be rectified but this has been an opportunity to further consider 
the composition. Following discussion with the Chairs of the Authority and Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Executive, officers are putting 
forward a proposal which will allow a greater ‘pool’ of members to be appointed to the 
committee.

1.2 Proposals

Under the present composition four out of 18 members are ineligible to sit on Audit 
and Scrutiny Committee.  Given the reduced size of the Authority it is suggested that 
the composition be changed to omit the Deputy Chair of the Authority and Deputy 
Chair of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee from the list of excluded posts.  
It is suggested that being a member of Audit and Scrutiny Committee is a valuable 
experience for any member aspiring to senior posts within the Authority and to exclude 
them may restrict their ability to learn or refresh skills in relation to financial and 
performance management.  This is of course, subject to individuals’ capacity in terms of 
other commitments.

1.3 Implications

This minor change would increase the number of members eligible to sit on Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee, at the same time potentially increasing knowledge and 
understanding, should the Deputy Chairs wish to sit on Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

1.4 Risk

With a reduced number of members the Authority needs to maximize the eligibility of 
members to sit on Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  The oversight in appointing Cllr 
Roderick to the committee also needs to be regularised in the interests of good 
governance.

Page 52



1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to consider the proposed changes and if these are agreed, to 
confirm the appointment of Cllr Edwin Roderick to the committee.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

c) To agree changes to the composition of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee to allow the Deputy Chairs of the Authority and Planning, 
Access and Rights of Way Committee to stand for appointment on 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee;

d) That if (a) is agreed, that Cllr Edwin Roderick be confirmed as a 
member of Audit and Scrutiny Committee until the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Authority on 29 July 2020.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Amendments to Appointments Committee

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 26 June 2020

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To propose an additional remit to the Appointments 
Committee Terms of Reference

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation To approve additions to the terms of reference of the 
Appointments Committee in respect of an appraisal 
process for the Chief Executive as outlined in the 
report.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Appointments Committee’s current terms of reference are as follows:

Composition

The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority, the Chair and Deputy Chair of the 
Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee and the Chair and Deputy Chair of the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  Composition should, as far as possible, meet the 
requirements of Paragraph 13.3 of Schedule 7 of the Environment Act 1995 in terms of 
balance of local authority and Welsh Assembly appointed Members

Terms of Reference/Delegated Powers

Page 55

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1. To make recommendations to the National Park Authority on the 
appointment of  Chief Officers through the following:

a) Draw up a person specification and job description for the post;
b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it 

to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it;
c) Make arrangements for a copy of the job pack to be sent to any person on request;
d) Draw up a list of suitable candidates and interview them;
e) Make recommendations to the Authority on a final selection, for the Authority to 

interview and make the appointment;
f) Where no qualified person has applied, to make further arrangements for 

advertisement.

2. To make recommendations to the National Park Authority on the 
appointment of independent members of Standards Committee through 
the following:

a) Confirm the person specification and job description for the role.
b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it 

to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it;
c) Make arrangements for a copy of the job pack to be sent to any person on request;
d) Draw up a list of suitable candidates and interview them.
e) Make recommendations to the Authority on the person(s) to be appointed;
f) Where no qualified person has applied, to make further arrangements for 

advertisement.

While the committee holds the responsibility for overseeing the recruitment of a Chief 
Officer, it does not currently have a remit for developing or participating in performance 
appraisals.  This is currently carried out by the Chair who sets objectives (in 
consultation with members) and holds a performance appraisal review with the Chief 
Executive twice a year.

The Local Government and Elections Bill (Wales) 2019 will include requirements for 
principal authorities to review and publish their appraisal system although it is not clear 
at present whether that will apply to National Park Authorities.  The appraisal system is 
also informed by the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) handbook.

1.2 Proposals

The Chair has held discussions with members as well as the Chief Executive and HR 
Officer in order to consider the proposed revisions to the performance appraisal 
process for the Chief Executive. The conclusion was that the responsibility for 
conducting the performance appraisal process should be delegated to the Appointments 
Committee who already had the remit for overseeing recruitment to the post.  

Page 56



The process is likely to involve the Committee agreeing with the Chief Executive the 
targets or achievements, how such are to be evaluated (potentially including a ‘360 
degree’ review with input from members and senior officers), and a method of ongoing 
regular reviews with final appraisal at the end of the year, in line with that used by many 
public bodies.

It is suggested that the Appointments Committee be given delegation to develop an 
appraisal process which is appropriate to the size of the Authority, adheres to JNC 
guidance and is acceptable to the Chief Executive.  Both the Monitoring Officer and the 
HR Officer would be available to advise the Committee.  The proposed additions to the 
terms of reference are:

To develop, agree and implement an appropriate appraisal framework and 
process for the Chief Executive 

The Committee will be able to call on any specific expertise amongst the 
wider membership if this would add value to the process.

1.3 Implications

Agreeing the proposal would provide clarity for the Chief Executive and members and 
allow all members and senior officers to contribute to the process.

1.4 Risk

The Chief Executive is also designated the Head of Paid Service under the Environment 
Act 1995, which is one of the statutory roles which hold statutory protection under the 
Local Authorities Standing Orders Regulations 1993. The role and duties of the Head of 
Paid Service is principally designated under section 4 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. 

For this reason it is considered good governance to have a clear and transparent 
process in place to set appropriate targets and goals for the Head of Paid Service and 
then to review performance.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to agree in principle for the Appointments Committee to develop 
an appropriate appraisal process for the Chief Executive.

RECOMMENDATION: To approve additions to the terms of reference of the 
Appointments Committee in respect of an appraisal process for the Chief 
Executive as outlined in the report.

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Establishment of an Accommodation Working Group

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 26 June 2020

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To propose the establishment of a member officer working 
group to oversee the work on sourcing new office 
accommodation and overseeing proposals for use of Welsh 
Government and the capital receipt funding for 
improvements to the National Park Visitor Centre.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation To establish the Accommodation Working Group 
and agree terms of reference as outlined in the 
report.

1.1 Introduction or Background

Members are aware that the Authority has been advised that it will need to vacate Plas y 
Ffynnon, its administrative headquarters, in order for the landlords, Dyfed Powys Police, 
to pursue their own accommodation plans.  No fixed date has been given for this but 
officers are working to the Police’s indicative timetable for their relocation into new 
premises sometime in 2023, and given this timetable it is considered prudent to 
expedite the search for alternative accommodation.  At the same time, when Members 
considered the proposals for the National Park Visitor Centre back in December 2019, 
it was made clear that these required further work and member input.  In light of these 
two strands of related work, a meeting of the Accommodation Working Group was 
held on 16 June, the outcome of which is a set of proposals to clarify and focus the 
remit of the working group.

Page 59

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Previously the Accommodation Working Group split itself into two sub-groups with the 
Delivery Director working with a small group of Members on the proposals to enhance 
and improve the functionality of the National Park Visitor Centre while the Chief 
Executive called on the remaining group of members, as and when necessary, to discuss 
issues arising in relation to the Authority’s accommodation needs and the proposed 
Joint Services Hub project with Powys County Council, the Police and others.

At the time, neither sub-group was established with a formal remit nor terms of 
reference and subsequently, as a result of the reduction in the size of the Authority, the 
membership of both groups has been depleted.

The meeting of the full Accommodation Working Group on 16 June comprised a wide 
ranging but very productive discussion regarding the best way to advance both strands 
of work.  Given the importance, long-term, of making the right decisions regarding our 
HQ accommodation, the Chief Executive also invited the Chairs of the Authority, 
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee and Audit and Scrutiny Committee to 
the meeting.  On the agenda was an invitation for members to consider how they 
wished to work on both plans for the visitor centre and HQ accommodation.  Members 
present were Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe, Mr Julian Stedman, Cllr Ann Webb, Mr Chris 
Coppock, Cllr John Hill, Ms Sue Holden and Cllr Edwin Roderick.

1.2 Proposals

After discussion the working group proposed that a properly constituted 
Accommodation Working Group be established to oversee both strands of work in 
parallel but progressing independently. The report presented here seeks to ratify that 
proposal so that preparations can be made to make the necessary appointments at the 
AGM on 29 July 2020 thereby maintaining the momentum Members of the Working 
Group were keen to see.

At the meeting a member proposed the establishment of a Project Board in place of the 
Working Group. A similar proposal had also been raised the previous week in relation 
to the work of the Waterfalls Task and Finish Group. The CEO proposed and it was 
agreed that the Governance and Member Development Working Group should be 
tasked with discussing this, and how Project/ Programme Board structures could be 
established across the breadth of the Authority’s work at their next meeting on 3 July 
2020.

Officers are therefore proposing that the terms of reference would be as follows:

Page 60



Composition

The Working Group shall consist of six Members – as far as practicable four appointed 
by the constituent Unitary Authorities and two by the Welsh Assembly Government.  
From time to time, and without setting a precedent, other members may be invited to 
attend a meeting in relation to a particular topic or area of expertise.

The Working Group shall also consist of the following officers:

 Chief Executive 
 Public Engagement Manager
 Commercial Manager
 Democratic Services Manager/Officer
 Legal Advisor
 Section 151 Officer/Finance Manager 
 Systems and Performance Manager

At the first meeting of the working group after the Annual General Meeting each year 
the first item of business shall be to appoint a Chair of the working group.

Terms of Reference

1. To oversee options for alternative HQ accommodation for the Authority 
2. To oversee proposals for use of Welsh Government funding for improvements to 

the National Park Visitor Centre
3. As part of 1. and 2. to review scoping briefs and make recommendations to the 

Authority so that tenders can be let.
4. As part of 1. And 2. to retain project and risk management oversight subject to the 

recommendations of the Governance and Member Development Working Group 
regarding Project/Programme Board structures

Delegated Powers

To advise, provide strategic direction and oversight to the Chief Executive and relevant 
officers to enable them to make recommendations to the National Park Authority in 
respect of HQ accommodation and developments at the National Park Visitor Centre 
as laid out in the terms of reference above.

As a Working Group this is not a subcommittee or an advisory committee of the 
Authority as envisaged by s101 of the Local Government Act 1972. The group will meet 
in private and is not subject to publication or the access to information requirements of 
section 100 of the Local Government Act 1972. All decisions will be considered in a 

Page 61



public meeting, subject to the normal exemption requirements, when a matter is 
recommended to the National Park Authority. 

1.3 Implications

Establishing a working group with a clear remit would regularise member involvement 
and oversight of two important workstreams and ensure a clear reporting line to the 
Authority.  Given the importance of accommodation for the Authority it is suggested 
that the group would have the option to invite Chair(s) to any meeting if they were not 
already appointed to the working group.

1.4 Risk

At present there is no formally agreed remit for the Accommodation Working Group 
and the group has also been used on a variety of accommodation related matters.  
There is at present is a lack of clarity which will be addressed through the proposals 
contained in this report if approved.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to consider establishing a refreshed Accommodation Working 
Group with a clear remit as set out in this report.

RECOMMENDATION:  To establish the Accommodation Working Group 
and agree terms of reference as outlined in the report.

Page 62



Welsh Language Standards Compliance report 2019/20

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 26 June 2020

Report Author
Siân Shakespear

Job title Swyddog Iaith/Language Officer

Contact Details sian.shakespear@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report  For the Authority to ratify the annual compliance 
report before it is published on the Authority’s 
website.

 For the Authority to recognise the work which has, 
and is being undertaken by Officers in relation to the 
Welsh Language Standards with which we are legally 
bound to comply.

 For the Authority to note that the Welsh Language 
Officer has been in post since August last year 
working a day a week and that Corporate 
Governance Team has just approved a proposal for 
this role to be increased to two days a week for the 
forthcoming year.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Welsh Language Standards Compliance report 2019/20

Public Interest Test
Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) To ratify the annual compliance report before 
it is published on the Authority’s website.

b) To recognise the work which has, and is being 
undertaken by Officers in relation to the 
Welsh Language Standards with which the 
Authority is legally bound to comply.

c) To note the accomplishments highlighted at 
the top of the Compliance Report and the fact 

Page 63

Agenda Item 11



that both a Promotion Strategy and Welsh in 
the Workplace are currently being drafted.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is legally bound to adhere to the Welsh 
Language Standards agreed with the Welsh Language Commissioner on 13/01/2017 in 
compliance with Section 44 Welsh Language Wales) Measure 2011.  The full list of 
standards and their description can be found on the Authority’s website : 
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/20170213-Hysbysiad-
Cydymffurfio44-Awdurdod-Parc-Cenedlaethol-Bannau-Brycheiniog-en-1.pdf.  As part of 
its responsibilities The Authority is required to publish a compliance report in relation 
to these standards annually on its website.

1.2 Proposals

To publish the compliance report for 2019/20, enclosure 1, on the Authority’s website. 

1.3 Implications

The Authority will be complying with Section 44 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 
2011.  

1.4 Risk

The Authority could be challenged by the Welsh Language Commissioner and 
ultimately taken to court for non-compliance. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To ratify the annual compliance report before it is published on the Authority’s 
website,

b) To recognise the work which has, and is being undertaken by Officers in 
relation to the Welsh Language Standards with which The Authority is legally 
bound to comply,

c) To note the accomplishments highlighted at the top of the Compliance Report 
and the fact that a new five year Promotion Strategy and new Welsh in the 
Workplace are currently being drafted and under discussion.

Page 64

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/20170213-Hysbysiad-Cydymffurfio44-Awdurdod-Parc-Cenedlaethol-Bannau-Brycheiniog-en-1.pdf
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/20170213-Hysbysiad-Cydymffurfio44-Awdurdod-Parc-Cenedlaethol-Bannau-Brycheiniog-en-1.pdf


1

Welsh Language Standards Compliance Report 2019/20

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is required to adhere to the Welsh Language Standards.  The full list of standards and their 
description can be found on the Authority’s website : http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/20170213-Hysbysiad-
Cydymffurfio44-Awdurdod-Parc-Cenedlaethol-Bannau-Brycheiniog-en-1.pdf 

 The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has set up a Framework Agreement for translation services for five years 2020 – 2025 which 
includes six translation companies.

 1170 young people benefitted from education about the Park through the medium of Welsh.  
 There have been no complaints regarding the Welsh Language during 2019/20. 
 Guidelines on how to plan and integrate Welsh language requirements into projects and work have been adopted.
 Skills levels in spoken, written and reading Welsh consistent with ALTE levels have been adopted as part of the Authority’s recruitment policy.
 This annual report is produced to meet the requirement of the Standards and has been agreed by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority on: 

.............. 
 It will be published on the Authority’s website on ..............

P
age 65

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/20170213-Hysbysiad-Cydymffurfio44-Awdurdod-Parc-Cenedlaethol-Bannau-Brycheiniog-en-1.pdf
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/20170213-Hysbysiad-Cydymffurfio44-Awdurdod-Parc-Cenedlaethol-Bannau-Brycheiniog-en-1.pdf


2

Standard Number Class of Standard Summary of Standards/Progress Update
Correspondence
(Standards 1-7)

Service Delivery The requirements of the service standards for correspondence determine that:

 Welsh correspondence is replied to in Welsh 
 A record of those people requiring correspondence in Welsh is maintained by each department. 
 Where it is unclear whether the recipient would like to receive a Welsh version of 

correspondence letters and emails are sent bilingually.
 The Welsh Language is treated equally with the English Language
 Correspondence, publications & notices which invite a response state that correspondence is 

welcomed in Welsh, will be responded to in Welsh and that corresponding in Welsh will not lead 
to a delay.

 During 2019/20 0 letters were received in Welsh only.

Telephone Calls
(Standards 8-22)

Service Delivery The requirements of the telephone language service determine that:

 A Welsh Language service is available via our main reception. Users of the service receive the 
options in Welsh and our two main operators are Welsh speakers.

 Staff provide a Welsh Language greeting and deal with calls in Welsh as far as is possible. All staff 
will be required to follow the free Work Welsh Welcome 10 hour online course. 

 Staff are aware of the Welsh speaking staff available within their department.

Meetings
(Standards 24-34)

Service Delivery For meetings

 With an individual we ask if they would like to use Welsh and if they say yes we will hire a 
translation service.

 With a group we ask people if they would like to use Welsh and if more than 10% would we 
provide a translation service.

 For public meetings the advertisement or invite asks people to notify us by a specified date 
beforehand if they would like to use Welsh and if anyone comes back with that request we 
provide a translation service.

 Guest speakers are also asked if they wish to present in Welsh.

P
age 66



3

 If there are Welsh speakers at a public meeting the visual presentations must be bilingual. 

Public Events
(Standards 35-38)

Service Delivery All public events which we organize or fund at least 50% are bilingual in terms of the publicity produced, 
any signage or other material displayed and any audio used.

Agendas & Minutes 
(Standard 41)

Service Delivery National Park Authority agendas and minutes are all bilingual and published simultaneously via 
‘modern.gov.uk’.

Documents Produced

(Standards 42-45 & 47-
51)

Service Delivery  All brochures, leaflets and pamphlets are produced bilingually
 Other documents produced bilingually include:-

- Policies, strategies, annual reports and corporate plans
- Guidelines & codes of practice
- Consultation papers
- Rules provided to the public

Where separate Welsh & English versions are produced the English version states that a Welsh 
version is available.

Press Statements
(Standard 46)

Service Delivery Press Statements are produced bilingually.

Websites & Social Media
(Standards 52-59)

Service Delivery The Authority and Brecon Beacons destination websites are both fully bilingual. The Authority also has 
a Welsh facebook page with 192 followers and a twitter feed which has 224 followers. Apps for 
external use by members of the public or by volunteers are produced bilingually.

Self-service Machines
(Standard 60)

Service Delivery Instructions on self-service machines are bilingual.

Signage
(Standards 61-63)

Service Delivery Signage is prepared bilingually with the Welsh positioned so that it can be read first.  

Reception Service
(Standards 64-68)

Service Delivery The two main receptionists working for the Authority are Welsh speakers, a sign is displayed in our 
main reception area which indicates that Welsh is welcome and the two receptionists wear lanyards 
and badges to signify their ability to speak Welsh.

P
age 67



4

Public Notices
(Standards 69-70)

Service Delivery Official notices are prepared bilingually with the Welsh positioned so that it can be read first.  

Grant Giving
(Standards 71-75 & 94)

Service Delivery The Authority’s grant fund, the Sustainable Development Fund encourages applications in Welsh via 
the Expression of Interest and Applications forms and applying in Welsh does not lead to a delay for 
applicants. All information regarding the grant is available bilingually and the use of Welsh in project 
descriptions and assessments is a criterion.

Tenders
(Standards 76-80)

Service Delivery Tenders are issued in Welsh if the subject matter suggests that they should be produced in Welsh or 
the expected audience suggests that it should be in Welsh. The newly appointed Welsh Language 
Officer is developing guidance in relation to this with the BBNPA Finance Manager.

Other
(Standards 81-87)

Service Delivery Our education service promotes sessions in Welsh and sessions through the medium of Welsh are 
regularly provided. A total of 1170 children benefitted from learning about the National Park through 
the medium of Welsh in 2019/20 which equates to 20% of all pupils the education service interacted 
with.  This is a 7% decrease on the previous year. 

Amongst the 90 people who actively volunteer for the National Park there are 7 beginner level 
Welsh learners, 2 intermediate level and 2 fluent Welsh speakers.

Our corporate identity is fully bilingual.
Policy Making
(Standards 88-93 & 95-
97)

Policy Making The Authority has adopted guidelines on incorporating the promotion of the use of the Welsh 
language when planning projects.

All decisions are assessed for their impact on the Welsh Language through the use of the Single 
Integrated Assessment Form. In 2019/20 0 policies were developed which had an impact on the Welsh 
Language.

Welsh in the Workplace
(Standard 98)

Operational A policy for using & promoting Welsh in the Workplace was developed in consultation with staff and 
ratified by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority in April 2017.

Employee Documents
(Standards 99-104 & 
112-119)

Operational Employees are surveyed to find out their language choice in terms of employment contracts, 
training needs, performance documents and forms including annual leave, flexi sheets etc.  
Employees are aware that they are able to use Welsh throughout a complaints/disciplinary 
procedure should they wish to do so.

P
age 68



5

Welsh Software
(Standards 120-126)

Operational The Authority is exploring the option of purchasing Cysgair/Cysill which includes an Authority wide 
multiple licence so that several members of staff can use it on their machines.

Welsh Language Skills of 
Staff
(Standards 127-131 & 
151-152)

Operational The Authority is in the process of adopting defined Welsh Language Skills levels in spoken, written and 
reading Welsh consistent with ALTE levels as part of the Authority’s recruitment policy.
7 members of staff attended courses to learn Welsh in 2019/20

Welsh Language 
Awareness Courses
(Standards 132-133)

Operational The Authority is in the process of rolling out a programme of Welsh Language Awareness courses 
for all staff and members of the Authority regarding developments in the way the Authority 
incorporates the Welsh Language into its work.
The Authority has produced a user-friendly flier/poster as a handy guide which outlines the 
requirements of our Welsh Language Standards to raise awareness and help with induction of new 
members of staff.

Email Signatures
(Standards 134-135)

Operational Staff have been supplied with bilingual job titles and Welsh speakers have received the Work Welsh logo.

Recruitment
(Standards 136-140 & 
153-154)

Operational All jobs were assessed and the requirement for Welsh language skills categorized:
a) Welsh language skills essential
b) Welsh language skills needs to be learned when appointed
c) Welsh Language skills are desirable. 
d) Welsh Language skills are not necessary.

During 2019/20 11 vacant posts were assessed and 1 was categorized as Welsh essential.
New skills levels in spoken, written and reading Welsh consistent with ALTE levels have been adopted 
as part of the Authority’s recruitment policy and will be applied to new vacant posts from May 2020 
onwards.

Workplace Signage
(Standards 141-144)

Operational Signage in the workplace is bilingual, the text is accurate in terms of meaning and expression and is placed 
to be read first.

P
age 69



6

Promotion
(Standards 145-146)

Promotion A five year strategy regarding how the Authority will be promoting the use of the Welsh Language within 
the National Park boundaries which is published on our website, is in the process of being reviewed and 
will include a new action plan.

Complaints
(Standards 147-150 & 
156)

Record Keeping No complaints regarding the Welsh Language were received by the Authority in the year.  The Authority 
has a complaints procedure which would also apply for any Welsh Language complaints. The Authority’s 
complaints procedure is in the process of being updated.

Overseeing the 
standards/producing an 
annual report
(Standards 155-176)

Supplementary A copy of the standards which we have a duty to comply are available on our website.  This report 
represents our annual report of the performance against standards during 2019 to 2020. Help, support, 
monitoring and evaluation against the standards is provided by the Welsh Language Officer within the 
Authority.  This report has been approved by the Corporate Governance Team and the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority.

P
age 70



Document is Restricted

Page 71

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Corporate Plan 2020/21
	Enc. 1 for Corporate Plan 2020/21

	8 Amendment to Terms of Reference of Audit and Scrutiny Committee
	9 Amendments to Appointments Committee
	10 Establishment of an Accommodation Working Group
	11 Welsh Language Standards Compliance Report
	final Welsh Language Standards Compliance Report 19 June 2020

	15 Update June 2020 on Foel Deg Boundary Management

